JML:1k(506a) #L982-1093(d):10-18-84

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 65,888

JOELLA DEGRIO,

Petitioner,

VS.

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES,

Respondent.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

GEORGE M, NACHWALTER, ESQUIRE 9445 Bird Road, 2nd Floor Miami, Florida 33165

and

HERSHOFF AND LEVY Attorneys for Petitioner 9445 Bird Road, 2nd Floor Miami, Florida 33165 Tel. 226-1071

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 13, 1978, Plaintiff filed an action for negligence against the National Union and William Mudgett (R. 1-3). Plaintiff alleged in her complaint that Mudgett was an agent of the National Union who acted in willful and wanton disregard of her rights by failing to appear at an administrative proceeding (R. 3). Mudgett was alleged to have acted within the course and scope of his employment with the National Union (R. 1). Defendants filed a motion to dismiss alleging a plethora of grounds, the most pertinent of which are: failure to join indispensable parties; absence of a legal duty owed to the Plaintiff by Defendants; and, lack of subject matter jurisdiction (R. 6-9). The Court, on August 31, 1978, granted the motion to dismiss as to Mudgett and denied the motion to dismiss as to the National Union and allowed Plaintiff leave to file an amended complaint (R. 56).

On September 21, 1978, the Plaintiff filed her first amended complaint (R. 62-65). In Count I, Plaintiff alleged that Mudgett was employed by the National Union as a national representative and that Mudgett failed to appear to represent Plaintiff at an administrative hearing after having knowledge of same (R. 63). In Count II of her first amended complaint, Plaintiff alleged that Mudgett was required, by the hearing examiner after his non appearance, to explain why he did not attend the hearing but that Mudgett failed to send in the appropriate letter (R. 4). Plaintiff alleged that Mudgett acted in willful and wanton disregard of the Plaintiff's rights and sought punitive damages (R. 64-65).

Defendants filed a second motion to dismiss. This motion, in essence, raised the same defenses previously raised (R. 67). The Court, on November 22, 1978, denied the Defendants' motion as to the National Union but granted the motion, with prejudice, as to William Mudgett (R. 127).

Defendants petitioned for a Writ of Prohibition from the District Court of Appeal, Third District on the ground that the trial Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to proceed with the cause (R. 130-141). The District Court of Appeal, Third District, by Order entered November 30, 1978, held that the Petition for Writ stated a prima facia case and issued a Rule Nisi (R. 128-129). The Plaintiff filed a written response maintaining that the lawsuit was for common law negligence, not for breach of the duty of fair representation and that the cause was not preempted. After oral argument, the District Court of Appeal, Third District dismissed the Petition for Writ of Prohibition (R. 144). Mudgett vs. Gale, 366 So.2d 901 (Fla. 3 DCA), cert. den. 376 So.2d 74 (Fla. 1979), cert. den. 444 U.S. 1080 (1980).

On January 25, 1979, Plaintiff sought rehearing as to the dismissal of William Mudgett from the lawsuit (R. 142). The motion was denied. No appeal was ever taken by the Plaintiff from this Order and Mudgett is no longer involved in this cause as a party.

The National Union filed its answer and affirmative defenses on March 6, 1979 (R. 163-169). The National Union denied the material allegations of the complaint and set forth affirmative defenses of lack of subject matter jurisdiction, failure to join indispensible parties and that no legal wrong was shown by the

Plaintiff (R. 163-169). On May 6, 1980, the National Union filed an amended answer which included the additional defenses of lack of special damages and failure to mitigate damages (R. 239).

On September 2, 1980, the National Union moved for summary judgment or to dismiss the claim (R. 318-319). The National Union maintained that based upon the pleadings, discovery materials and affidavits, the proximate cause of Plaintiff's injury, was not the Defendant's failure to represent the Plaintiff at the administrative proceeding but actions committed by the Plaintiff (R. 318-319). The National Union also moved to strike the claim for punitive damages because such an award was contrary to the recent decision of the United States Supreme Court in International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers vs. Faust, 442 U.S. 42 (1979) (R. 326-327). The Court denied the motion for summary judgment but struck the claim for punitive damages (R. 362, 363).

On November 3, 1980, the National Union moved to dismiss the complaint for failure to join an indispensible party. In this motion, the National Union maintained that in cases involving breach of the duty of fair representation, the Employer and not the Union is liable for back pay (R. 393-394). Therefore, the National Union argued that the Employer was an indispensible party. The trial Court denied the motion but granted leave to bring in the United States (Plaintiff's Employer) as a third party defendant (R. 450). Defendants sought certiorari review, by the District Court of Appeal, Third District, of the trial couirt's denial of leave to amend. This petition was denied. Mudgett vs. Gale, 407 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 3 DCA 1981).

The National Union filed a third party complaint against the United States (R. 451-470). The United States removed the case to the Southern District of Florida (R. 474-601). On September 3, 1981, the Distict Court remanded the cause to the Circuit Court with instructions to dismiss the United States of America as a Third Party Defendant (R. 356-657).

The cause then came on for trial before the Circuit Court. At the close of the trial, each party was directed by the Circuit Court to prepare a written closing argument and a proposed final judgment (TR. 594). Both parties filed their written closing arguments and proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law on May 7, 1982 (R. 704-840).

The final judgment sought review was entered on June 9, 1982 (R. 882-895). The Court awarded the Plaintiff \$250,000.00 compensatory damages and \$150,000.00 punitive damages against the National Union. In allowing punitive damages, the Court found that this was a case for common law negligence and its previous reliance upon International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers vs. Faust, supra. decision was incorrect (R. 894-898).

The National Union moved for rehearing, to recalculate compensatory damages and to strike punitive damages (R. 841-864). This petition was denied by Order of the Circuit Court entered July 13, 1982 (R. 870-873). The National Union appealed the final judgment of the Circuit Court to the District Court of Appeal, Third District (R. 877-878).

After hearing oral argument, the District Court of Appeal on July 17, 1984, issued its opinion in this cause (R. 896-906). The Court held that subject matter jurisdiction was present as

this cause did not involve the duty of fair representation (R. 901). Consequently, the National Union owed a common law duty to the Plaintiff to act with reasonable care which the National Union breached (R. 902). The Court characterized Plaintiff's cause of action as the negligent infliction of emotional distress (R. 902). Overruling the trial Court's factual finding that malice was present sufficient to overcome the impact rule, the District Court of Appeal, Third District held the claim barred because no impact was present (R. 902-903). The Third District certified the following question to this Court:

"Should Florida abrogate the "impact rule" and allow recovery for the physical consequences resulting from mental or emotional stress caused by a negligent ommission on the part of a defendant in the absence of both defendant in the absence of both physical impact upon the Plaintiff and malicious conduct by the defendant ?" (R. 904-905).

Plaintiff petitioned for rehearing arguing that regardless of the correctness <u>vel non</u> of the District Court of Appeal decision on impact, all of Plaintiff's damages were not based upon emotional distress since Plaintiff had lost her job as a result of the National Union petitioned for rehearing contending the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

Both petitions were denied by Order dated September 7, 1984 (R. 906).

Plaintiff then filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction based upon the certified question of the District Court of Appeal. In conjunction with the notice, Plaintiff moved to stay the issuance of the Mandate by the Third Dis-

trict. On September 19, 1984, the Third District granted the motion to stay issuance of Mandate pending the decision of this cause by this Court.

On September 21, 1984, the National Union filed a cross notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction on the grounds of conflict of decision.

#### III

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Plaintiff, as the prevailing party in the trial Court, is entitled to have the facts and all inferences taken therefrom assessed in a light most favorable to her. Plaintiff will review the facts in a light most favorable to the Plaintiff as the prevailing party.

Joe Albanese, at all times material to this cause, was president of Local 2447 of the American Federation of Government Employees (TR. 152). The bargaining unit was located at the Homestead Airforce Base (TR. 162-163). Plaintiff was not a member of the bargaining unit of Local 2447 (TR. 163, 319). Plaintiff was a member of the National Union (TR. 314). The Plaintiff was not under the Union contract with management (TR. 166). The Local collected dues from the Plaintiff (TR. 198, 220).

Albanese heard that Plaintiff was terminated from her job (TR. 168). He called Captain Bernstein, Plaintiff's immediate supervisor who initiated the termination order, and asked, unsuccessfully, for a meeting (TR. 168-169). Albanese then called Kenneth Blaylock, the vice president of the fifth district of the National Union (TR. 169). Blaylock told Albanese to have the

Plaintiff request a hearing and indicate that her representative was to be the National Union (TR. 170, 224). A letter was sent by the National Union appointing Mr. Mudgett as the Plaintiff's representative (TR. 316). Albanese gave Mudgett, a national representative of the American Federation of Employees, Mrs. Degrio's file (TR. 171-172, 226). Mudgett never asked anything of Albanese in this matter (TR. 226). Albanese did not know what was in Mrs. Degrio's file (TR. 200).

Albanese learned that Mudgett did not show up at the administrative hearing on Plaintiff's removal from federal service which occurred on September 9, 197? (TR. 174). Albanese sent a mailgram to the Administrative Law Judge who heard the case (TR. 175). He also contacted Jim DeLisle, another national representative (TR. 175). Albanese contacted Forest Wooten, Blaylock's successor as Fifth District vice president (TR. 175). He received two letters from Forest Wooton which were admitted into evidence as Plaintiff's Exhibits 13 and 14.

In November, 1977, Mudgett attended a meeting of Local 2447 (TR. 184). Various members of the Local were present (TR. 185, 257, 303-304). At this meeting, Mudgett stated that he knew about the hearing of September 9th but did not attend (TR. 186, 211). Mudgett told the Plaintiff that he was on vacation and had given the file to another representative (TR. 413). Mudgett claimed that he was never notified of the hearing (TR. 259, 278). Later Mudgett stated that he was on vacation and had turned it over to someone else (TR. 259, 280). Mudgett admitted knowing about the hearing (TR. 259). He told the group at the meeting that if he had been present, the Defendant would have won (TR.

210, 260). Mudgett stated that he would get the case reopened (TR. 210).

Mary Galloway saw Plaintiff soon after her termination. Plaintiff was distraught and consumed with the fact that Mr. Mudgett did not show up at the hearing (TR. 243). Eight days after the hearing, Plaintiff fell at home (TR. 273). Subsequent to the fall, Galloway visited the Plaintiff at Doctor's Hospital where the Plaintiff was hospitalized for a hemorrhage (TR. 244). Galloway observed that the Plaintiff had changed. Plaintiff's attention span was bad (TR. 244). Plaintiff could not finish sentences (TR. 245).

John Gustefson was the chief steward of Local 2447 (TR. 291-292). The Plaintiff was an associate member of the Local (TR. 294). As such a member, the Plaintiff received insurance and representation through the national representative (TR. 296). Gustefson was called by Plaintiff in June of 1976 and told that she had been fired by Armed Forces Entrance and Examination Station (TR. 300). Mr. Gustefson suggested that the Plaintiff contact the national office for assistance (TR. 300). The contact was made and Mudgett was appointed (TR. 301). Mudgett never discussed the Plaintiff's case with Gustefson nor did he ever ask Gustefson for assistance. Gustefson called Washington, D.C. prior to the hearing to find out what the National Union was going to do about representing the Plaintiff (TR. 318).

Joe Levy is the Plaintiff's husband (TR. 332). Prior to the September 9, 1976 hearing, the Plaintiff was very distraught by her dismissal from the Government (TR. 333). Prior to her dismissal, she was a conscientious woman who was proud of being a

civil service employee (TR. 333). Levy described the failure of Mudgett to show up at the hearing as the straw that broke the camel's back (TR. 334). Subsequent to the hearing, the Plaintiff was morose, did not feel well and was emotionally hurt (TR. 334--335). Plaintiff was hospitalized subsequent to Mudgett's failure to appear at her hearing. After her hospitalization, the Claimant's physical condition was poor (TR. 335). Her left hand was partially paralyzed (TR. 335). Her speech was impaired (TR. 336). Plaintiff could no longer pursue the same activities as she previously did (TR. 336).

Plaintiff, a sixty (60) year old woman, is a high school graduate with no special schooling other than secretarial training (TR. 336). Plaintiff learned of her dismissal from the civil service, in June of 1976 when Captain Bernstein gave the Plaintiff the dismissal papers when Plaintiff was at a beauty parlor (TR. 389-390). Plaintiff received a satisfactory rating in 1973, 1974 and 1975 (TR. 392-393). After Plaintiff received the letter from Captain Bernstein she contacted Mrs. Galloway (TR. 394). Plaintiff knew that she could prove that the charges were not correct (TR. 394). Plaintiff notified the National Union of her dismissal. She then received a letter appointing Mr. Mudgett as her representative (TR. 397). Plaintiff wrote to Mr. Mudgett on July 19, 1976 giving him certain information about her case (TR. 398). Mudgett never contacted the Plaintiff before the hearing (TR. 398, 425). Plaintiff knew very little about the procedures before the administrative board which is why the Plaintiff needed representation before the administrative body (TR. 399).

At the hearing of September 9, 1976, the Plaintiff had her witnesses present (TR. 400-401). Plaintiff was going to testify and refute the charges (TR. 401). Mr. Mudgett never contacted the Plaintiff (TR. 402). Mudgett never showed up at the hearing (TR. 403). The hearing officer, Mr. Friedman, was not able to contact Mudgett (TR. 403). Friedman asked the Plaintiff if she wanted to go on with the case in the absence of Mudgett (TR. 404). Plaintiff did not wish to proceed as she was not capable of representing herself (TR. 404). Plaintiff decided not to go forward at that time without representation (TR. 411). The hearing examiner stated that Mudgett could write a letter to the hearing examiner explaining his absence (TR. 522). At a later time, Mudgett told Plaintiff that he had written such a letter (TR. 522). Plaintiff stated that her termination was the most upsetting event to occur in her life (TR. 528).

After the hearing, Plaintiff felt like her whole life had gone away from her (TR. 407). She was not able to sleep or eat (TR. 407). The whole world was against her (TR. 408). Her life was going down the drain (TR. 408).

Plaintiff fell eight days after the hearing in September of 1976 (TR. 503). Plaintiff does not remember where or how she fell (TR. 504). Plaintiff was subsequently hospitalized at Doctor's Hospital where she was operated on (TR. 408). Since her hospitalization, the Plaintiff has been unable to type. Her left hand is partially paralyzed (TR. 407). She developed hepatitas at the hospital from a transfusion of blood (TR. 409). She is much weaker since her hospitalization (TR. 410).

Mudgett started working for the American Federation of Government Employees in 1963 (TR. 562). He was employed as the national representative and his duties were to assist local unions with reports, actions, grievances and negotiations (TR. 572). Mudgett moved to Florida in 1970 and became the national representative in Florida (TR. 572-573). Prior to Mrs. Degrio's case Mudgett had been involved in adverse actions (TR. 574). An adverse action is the procedure where a person is fired (TR. 574). It is an important case (TR. 613). Mudgett stated that in adverse actions, the local union does the investigation and obtains witnesses (TR. 577). Mudgett testified that he got the Degrio file but never contacted Mrs. Degrio (TR. 608, 612).

Mudgett did not appear for the Plaintiff at the local level with respect to the agency (TR. 577). Mudgett never received any notification from the Civil Service Commission concerning his appointment as Plaintiff's representative (TR. 578). received a letter from the Plaintiff but never informed her that she had to designate him as her representative (TR. 650, 652). Mudgett received the Plaintiffs file in July of 1976 (TR. 614). He received no information about a hearing date (TR. 578). received nothing from the hearing examiner (TR. 579). did receive a letter from vice-president Blaylock advising him to assist Local 2447 in the case (TR. 579). Mudgett never received any information or advice from either Plaintiff or the local union concerning when the hearing was to be held (TR. 582, 615). Mudgett stated that he did not recall receiving a letter from Mrs. Degrio on July 19, 1976 despite the presence of a return receipt attached to the letter which contained his signature (Plaintiff's Exhibit 6, TR. 582-583).

Mudgett was contacted, in Tampa, by Mr. Blaylock's office and told about the Plaintiff's hearing (TR. 579, 615). Mudgett then unsuccessfully attempted to contact Hearing Officer Friedman to request a hearing date (TR. 589). He then asked Blaylock's office to contact Friedman (TR. 589-590, 616). Mudgett tried to call Friedman twice with no success (TR. 616). In fact, Mudgett denied ever talking to Friedman although Friedman testified that he spoke to Mudgett (TR. 631). Mudgett never wrote a letter to Friedman (TR. 617). Mudgett felt that after he referred it back to Blaylock that Blaylock would take care of the matter (TR. 620). At the time of the referral, Mudgett still had the file (TR. 621).

Mudgett later attended a meeting of Local 2447 after being appointed Plaintiff's trustee (TR. 593). Mudgett did not recall being asked by anyone, at this meeting, why he wasn't at Mrs. Degrio's hearing (TR. 600). He denied saying that he personally had written a letter to Hearing Officer Friedman (TR. 601). Mudgett did say to the membership that the letters had been written on her behalf concerning the matter (TR. 622). He admitted that Hearing Examiner Friedman had the discretion to hold a hearing if a letter of explanation had been timely written by Mudgett (TR. 629-630).

Mudgett's position was that Plaintiff should have seen that a letter was written to the civil service designating him as her representative (TR. 625). However, a letter from Edward Passman indicated that the National Union admitted the failure of Mudgett to appear was beyond the control of the Plaintiff (Plaintiff's Exhibit 15, TR. 624). This letter also indicated, contrary to Mudgett's testimony, that Mudgett contacted Friedman (TR. 627).

The Federal Appeal tribunal affirmed Plaintiff's termination. The tribunal found that Mudgett was the Plaintiff's representative starting in July of 1976 and that Mudgett failed to appear on September 9, 1976 and failed to explain his absence (TR. 642).

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