IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 65,888



JOELLA DEGRIO.

Petitioner/Cross-Respondent,

vs.

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES,

Respondent/Cross Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-PETITIONER

Arthur J. England, Jr., Esq.

Fine Jacobson Schwartz Nash Block & England 2401 Douglas Road Miami, Florida 33134 (305) 446-2200

Harold D. Smith, Esq.

Law Offices Harold D. Smith, P.A. P.O. Box 1780 Hollywood, Florida 33022 (305) 923-6500

Co-counsel for Respondent/ Cross-Petitioner

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

There is a large body of case law on this subject, and there are numerous law review articles and commentaries which go into detail as to the development of the impact rule and its modification over the years. No commentator has suggested that a complete abrogation of the impact rule has occurred, or should occur. See, for example, Note, <u>Tort Law - Negligent</u> <u>Infliction of Emotional Distress - Should the Florida Supreme</u> <u>Court Replace the Impact Rule With a Foreseeability Analysis</u>?

-23-

11 Fla.St.U.L.Rev. 229 (1983). Case law is even more conservative and circumspect. In jurisdictions where the rule has been modified, various standards or limitations have been adopted to prevent the liability of potential defendants from being wholly open-ended.

DeGrio offers a summary of the history of the impact rule on pages 20-21 of her brief. This summary describes a judicial progression from early adoption of the impact rule to its partial abrogation in favor of so-called "substitutes." DeGrio suggests these include a "zone of danger" test, a "reasonable foreseeability" standard, and a simultaneous physical injury test. Although legal scholars might disagree with DeGrio's succession analysis in some particulars (and the union does to some extent), it really is not necessary to quibble over refinements of the legal principles for purposes of <u>this</u> case. Nowhere does DeGrio bring herself within any of the substitute doctrines which she herself identified.

DeGrio does not and can not claim to have been in a zone of danger, and she does not and can not claim to have suffered a physical injury simultaneously with Mudgett's failure to appear at her hearing. Her claim for an emotional distress recovery exists, if at all, only if her injury-producing epileptic seizure was reasonably foreseeable by the allegedly negligent defendant, American Federation of Government Employees. It wasn't, of course, by any stretch of

-24-

the facts, or by any standard applied in those courts which have adopted the foreseeability standard.

On the facts, neither the union nor Mudgett could have possibly known that DeGrio was under medical care for a blood platelet problem, that she harbored paranoia about her job, that she was an epileptic, that her doctors had discontinued the use of her lifelong anti-seizure medication, and that she had been hospitalized for various of these problems just prior to her job termination. DeGrio has never suggested that knowledge of her condition was, or could have been, attributed to Mudgett before the hearing. In fact, DeGrio's brief recognizes the union's lack of any information about her unique and emotional problems. As а matter of physical law, therefore, a stress-induced epileptic seizure should be held not to be foreseeable by an epileptic employee's union which volunteers to provide representation in a civil service hearing.

On the law, any "reasonably foreseeable" test which the Court might adopt for emotional trauma cases should have application only to normal persons, unless the peculiar condition of health was actually known to the defendant. foreseeability test Courts which have adopted а have specifically articulated this necessary refinement. Hunsley v. 553 P.2d 1096 (Wash. 1976), exemplifies this modern Giard, trend.

In that case, involving (as here) merely negligent conduct, the court abandoned impact, the zone of danger and

-25-
related limitations for emotional distress cases. After an exhaustive analysis of history and methodologies, the court concluded "that the wisest approach is to return to the traditional principles, theories, and standards of tort law. . . [D]uty, breach, proximate cause and damage or injury." 553 P.2d at 1102. (This Court similarly returned to traditional principles when the law of res ipsa loquitor became too complex and untenable. <u>Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v.</u> <u>Hughes Supply, Inc.</u>, 358 So.2d 1339 (Fla. 1978).) In analyzing those traditional principles, the court then identified what, for DeGrio, is the critical defect in her claim for recovery:

> The element of foreseeability plays a large part in determining the scope of defendant's duty... <u>Inherent in the formula is the</u> <u>principle that the plaintiff's mental</u> <u>distress must be the reaction of a normally</u> <u>constituted person</u>, absent defendant's knowledge of some peculiar characteristic or condition of plaintiff.

553 P.2d at 1103 (emphasis added). Other cases are to the same effect.

<u>Caputzal v. The Lindsay Co.</u>, 222 A.2d 513, 517 (N.J. 1966), quoting with approval from 2 Harper & James, <u>The Law of</u> <u>Torts</u> 1035 (1956), states that "generally defendant's standard of conduct is measured by the reactions to be expected of normal persons." <u>Hughes v. Moore</u>, 197 S.E.2d 214, 219 (Va. 1973), adopts a rule ". . . subject to familiar limitations. A

-26-

defendant's standard of conduct is generally measured by the reaction to be expected of a normal person." See Daley v. LaCroix, 179 N.W.2d 390 (Mich. 1970); Payton v. Abbott Labs, 437 N.E.2d 171 (Mass. 1982). Rodrigues v. State, 472 P.2d 509, 520 (Hawaii 1970), holds ". . . that serious mental distress may be found where a reasonable man, normally constituted, would be unable to adequately cope with the mental stress engendered by the circumstances of the case." Paugh v. Hanks, 451 N.E.2d 759, 765 (Ohio 1983), adopts the formulation in Rodrigues, supra. Finally, the Restatement (Second) of Torts, §313(1), comment c, (1965), describes liability for the negligent or unintentional causing of emotional distress with the caveat that this class of defendant "does not take the risk of any exceptional physical sensitivity to emotion which the other may have."

When the impact rule was last before the Court Justice Adkins proposed a normalcy standard:

> "[I]n the absence of a defendant's specific knowledge of a plaintiff's unusual sensitivity, no recovery should be allowed for hypersensitive mental disturbance where a normal person would not have been so affected under the circumstances.68

⁶⁸<u>Gilliam v. Stewart</u>, 291 So.2d 593, 603 (Fla. 1974) (Adkins, J., dissenting).

-27-

a "normal person" The logic behind standard of foreseeability is compelling in this case. No reasonable union representative who handles hearings for innumerable union members can be expected to foresee that a mere failure to administrative hearing could result at an appear in an epileptic seizure some eight days later. Obviously, anv doctrine which would treat as predictable the special injuries which result from unique health problems would be far-reaching and unwieldy. In this class of case, such a doctrine would serve to deter union officials from volunteering to handle any labor grievances.

2. <u>No proximate cause</u>

There is no record foundation for a finding of proximate cause between Mudgett's alleged failure to appear at the September 9 hearing and DeGrio's subsequent, alleged epileptic seizure and fall on September 17. The necessary nexus is not remotely present. The facts speak for themselves, saying loudly and clearly that Mudgett's non-appearance at the September 9 hearing could not possibly have been the proximate cause of DeGrio's stress-induced seizure.

Before that event, DeGrio had already lost her job, been advised when hospitalized that her blood illness was "severe", shown acute agitation about her work and her health, and had been taken off her lifetime, anti-seizure medicine. It was sheer speculation on the judge's part, which no doctor

-28-

confirmed, that Mudgett's non-appearance was the proximate cause of her later seizure and fall.

Nor is there the slightest proof of foreseeability that the national union would be expected to know that one of its local's members was epileptic, so that a failure to represent her would cause a stress-induced seizure. As to the requirements for proximate cause and foreseeability, see generally, Prosser, <u>Law of Torts §41</u> (4th Ed. 1971); <u>Firestone Tire & Rubber Co. v. Lippincott</u>, 383 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>petition denied</u>, 392 So.2d 1376 (Fla. 1980); <u>Kwoka v. Campbell</u>, 296 So.2d 629 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>cert. denied</u>, 304 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1974).

3. Subject matter jurisdiction

The district court never should have reached the impact rule in this case. It erred on the threshold question of whether the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction in this case.

The union asserts that any duty owed was one of fair representation, and that the district court's decision treating the duty as one of common law negligence is so unique as to set a precedent never before recognized in either federal or state courts for public sector labor cases. The court's decision on subject matter jurisdiction should be reversed, for several reasons.

The court determined that union members who are not in an exclusive bargaining unit can have common law rights

-29-

different from the rights which flow from a duty of fair representation. That notion is inherently absurd, and misunderstands the distinctive area of law surrounding the public labor sector.

The duty of fair representation certainly had its genesis in the exclusivity principle of representation, but exclusivity has never been a prerequisite to the imposition of a duty in all cases. In <u>Nedd v. United Mine Workers of</u> <u>America</u>, 556 F.2d 190 (3rd Cir. 1977), <u>cert. denied</u>, 434 U.S. 1013 (1978), the court applied the duty of fair representation to cases where the union took it upon itself to act for persons not members of the bargaining unit. The court cited <u>Railroad</u> <u>Trainmen v. Howard</u>, 343 U.S. 768, 72 S.Ct. 1022, 96 L.Ed. 1283 (1942), where the Supreme Court held:

> [T]hat the duty of fair representation prevented a union from discriminating on the basis of race in the collective bargaining process against the employees who were not members of the bargaining unit the union represented.

556 F.2d at 199.

In <u>Toensing v. Brown</u>, 528 F.2d 69 (9th Cir. 1975), the court held that the duty of fair representation is applicable within the range of representation of retirees who are not members of the bargaining unit if a union undertakes to represent them.

Logic dictates that if the union had any duty at all to DeGrio, that duty can only be, and can be no greater than, the duty of fair representation which applies to all other

-30-

members of the union. This principle was followed in <u>Gerace v.</u> <u>Johns-Manville Corp.</u>, 95 LRRM 3282 (Comm. Pleas Pa. 1977), where employees alleged tort injuries from working with asbestos. When the national and local unions were joined as defendants by the manufacturer, for their alleged negligence in failing to take proper steps to protect the health of their members, the unions sought dismissal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The manufacturer argued that the long-standing doctrine of federal preemption does not preclude the existence of a common law duty of due care founded on principles of state tort law. The court held otherwise:

> [T]he duty of fair representation... has been recognized as the only duty which a union has to its members.... Despite [the manufacturer's] importuning to the contrary, we strongly believe that it is not the responsibility of a nisi prius state judge to propose the imposition on a union of a duty in addition to that prescribed by the federal courts premised on undefined concepts of the common law.

See, also, Franklin Central School v. Franklin Teachers Association, 414 N.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. N.Y. 1980).

There is not a single court decision in the land on which to base a claim that this action can be characterized as common law negligence. Indeed, at the outset of the trial, DeGrio's counsel stated as much. (Tr. 141).

More importantly, DeGrio was treated in all respects like other members of the exclusive bargaining unit, and the

-31-

record fully supports the union's contention that DeGrio is not entitled to greater rights than other union members.⁶⁹

The district court also erred in suggesting that DeGrio would be entitled to maintain this suit even it were one based on a duty of fair representation. In footnote 1 of its opinion, the court stated that:

> [E]ven if [the duty of fair representation] were involved, this would not necessarily have divested the trial court of jurisdiction. See Vaca [v. Sipes, 386 U.S. 171 (1967)]; cf. Farmer v. United Bhd. of Carpenters and Joiners of America, Local 25, 430 U.S. 290, 97 S. Ct. 1056, 51 L. Ed.2d 338 (1977) (state court had jurisdiction over case involving intentional infliction of emotional distress despite some overlap with federal labor policy).

The court overlooked the critical distinction between the <u>Vaca</u> and <u>Farmer</u> cases, both of which involved <u>private</u> sector labor law, and DeGrio's case which involves federal <u>public</u> sector labor law. The publicsector has its own body of case law, with administrative procedures to handle labor matters that are unique to federal public sector policies. See <u>Marlow v.</u> <u>Department of Defense</u>, No. C-2-83-2010 (D.C. S.D. Ohio Nov. 16, 1984), citing other recent district court cases ruling on the

69See pages 194, 198 and 220 of the trial transcript. The employer included DeGrio in the union dues check-off system, which had to be agreed to by management and the union. Section 21(a) of Executive Order 11491 provides for the agency employer to deduct union dues (check-off) "....from the pay of members of the organization in the unit of recognition..." Dues check-off is authorized under this section "....when a labor organization holds exclusive recognition, and the agency and the organization agree..." Executive Order No. 11491, 5 U.S.C. § 3301, 7301 (Oct. 29, 1969).

-32-

same jurisdictional issue. A copy of the <u>Marlow</u> decision is appended to this brief.

Up until the time Congress enacted the Civil Service Reform Act <u>after</u> this case was initiated, no courts, federal or state, had subject matter jurisdiction over issues involving federal public sector unions. Civil Service Reform Act of 1978, 5 U.S.C. §7101 et seq. Prior to the Act, it was uniformly held that the Executive Order expressly provided administrative remedies under the Assistant Secretary of Labor for resolving disputes involving federal public sector unions, and that those procedures were exclusive. Thus, neither state nor federal courts have jurisdiction over DeGrio's complaint, even if it could be construed to meet the requirements of the <u>Farmer</u> exception which, based on the district court's correct law determination that Mudgett's conduct does not impute malice, it quite clearly did not.

The South Carolina Supreme Court recently reaffirmed that state trial courts do not have subject matter jurisdiction over an action against a union for an alleged failure to timely prosecute a claim through the civil service administrative appeal procedure. <u>Wood v. American Federation of Government</u> <u>Employees, AFL-CIO</u>, 318 S.E.2d 568, (S.C. 1984). A copy of the court's opinion is appended to this brief. The <u>Wood</u> decision reflects standard preemption principles which have been applied throughout the land by federal and state courts, including this court. Indeed, decisions of the United States' federal courts

-33-

and state court decisions cited herein unerringly hold that disputes between federal public-sector employees and their unions are <u>exclusively</u> within the province of federal administrative and judicial tribunals.

There should be no misunderstanding regarding the conduct of which DeGrio complained, as set forth in DeGrio's first amended complaint. DeGrio obtained in the trial court a judgment against a national labor union of which she is a dues-paying member, for the union's failure to appear and represent her at a federal, administrative proceeding which she initiated in order to review the termination of her federal job. Mudgett, the union's representative, was dismissed as a party defendant before trial.

If DeGrio's claim against the union has any legal justification at all, it necessarily results from the union's alleged breach of duty to appear and represent her at the administrative hearing, and if the union had any duty at all to DeGrio, it could only have arisen from the Executive Order or from her membership in this public-sector union.

The threshold issue in this proceeding was the state trial court's lack of subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate an alleged breach of duty, based on union membership, arising from a federal, public-sector union's failure to provide representation in a federal administrative proceeding. The universal and unanimous authority is that subject matter jurisdiction does <u>not</u> lie in the state court system. Degrio's

-34-

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